For Death is But a Passing Phase of Life: Riding The Grief Waves Resulting From The Death of
Pet and Human Loss Within a Culturally Fluid World

By

Yoshiko Nonaka

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Counselling (MC)

City University of Seattle Vancouver BC, Canada site

May 15, 2017

APPROVED BY

Scott Lawrance, Ed.D., R.C.C., Thesis Supervisor, Counsellor Education Faculty
Christopher Kinman, M.Sc., Faculty Reader, Counsellor Education Faculty

Division of Arts and Science

Abstract

We, as living beings, all cross paths with death of others and of ourselves, as well as the grief that follows. However, people in many cultures and societies are often discouraged from talking about death and dying. Death and grief as a result of it happen in response to not only human loss, but also from pet loss. In fact, the number of people who own pets has increased over the years. Furthermore, the world has become smaller and more mobile, with many people migrating and immigrating to cultures and societies that might lack culturally sensitive supports for those in grief. A review of the literatures also found a lack of supports in pet loss and grieving individuals who live in a fluid world in which they negotiate different sets of meanings and values. This autoethnographic thesis aims to explore the lived experience of an international student who is grieving both the loss of a pet and a human while struggling with the values and meanings of living in a fluid world. Results show that grief is unique and ongoing. The importance of death rituals and its possible impact on grief are also studied. Implications for counselling are offered.

Acknowledgements

What a journey it has been, here I am writing acknowledgment at last. There are so many people whom I would like to express my gratitude to. First and foremost, I would like to arigato (thank you) so very much my family for supporting me. Without your supports and belief in me, I would have not be here today; pursuing what I have wanted to become for such a long time -acounsellor. Many thanks to the people I have met at and through the City University, especially the people from my cohort; it has been my sincere pleasure getting to know you and grow personally and professionally together. My appreciation goes to Maika Tshimbalanga for your true kindness and support from the very first moment I met you at the information session; from support for getting my study permit extension, to support during my hardest time, including while I was lost in a storm f grief. I would also like to express my thanks to my partner for not only offering to be another sets of eyes to read and edit, which I know was not easy for you, but also to be there to catch me. My gratitude also goes out to my naturopathic doctor, Dr. Kelly Fujibayashi for supporting me holistically; physically, mentally, and emotionally. Thank you Dr. Avraham Cohen for encouraging me to write an autoethnographical thesis and suggesting Dr. Scott Lawrance as my thesis supervisor. My appreciation goes out to Dr. Gerda Wever for supporting me by reading through and editing everything I wrote, even at the very last moments. Thank you so very much Chris Kinman for your kind, positive, and supportive feedback. Last but not least, my sincere appreciation goes out to Dr. Scott Lawrance. I cannot thank you enough for your ever so gentle nudges, supports, and encouragements throughout this journey. Without your support, I doubt I could be where I am today; being satisfied with this thesis. I am very grateful for each and every one of you.

Dedication

Rabu, my beloved furry friend, sister, and therapist

1999 - 2014

&

My Grandma

1925 - 2014

"na jāyate mriyate vā kadācin"

For the soul there is neither birth nor death at any time

Bhagavad Gita 2.20

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Dedication	4
Table of Contents	5
Chapter 1 – Prologue: Death as Another Beginning Death as a Part of Life and as The Law of Nature	7
Grief and Bereavement	
The Beginning of My Grief Journey	
Being an international student in Canada.	10
Grieving death of an animal companion.	
The Reason Why I am Writing About My Grief Experiences for Thesis	
What You Can Expect For The Rest of This Thesis	11
Chapter 2 – Delivery of My Story: Story Telling as a Research Method	
Different Research Designs	
Ethical Consideration in Autoethnography	
Instruments and Data Collection	
Data Analysis	
Chapter 3 – Death and Grief at Last	
Death of Rabu	
Rabu and me.	
Then Rabu diedRight after her death	
A year after death of Rabu	
Death of Grandmother	
My grandma and I.	
Her diagnosis.	27
Her sudden death	
After her death.	
Returning to Vancouver	31
Chapter 4 – Life Goes On	33
Reflecting On The Two Deaths	
Cultural and societal contexts.	
Importance of death rituals.	
Feeling Like a Failure	
Surrendering and Accepting The Process: Going with The Flow	
Chapter 5 – Discussion: Riding the Waves	
Summary of What I have Written So Far	
Human – animal bond; beyond words.	
Death of animal companions.	
Importance of death rituals and a continuing bond after death	40

Limitations of Sharing My Story	48
Implication to Counselling	
Uniqueness of grief	50
Pet loss.	
Grief as on-going process.	54
Rituals and continuing bond in counselling.	
Cultural sensitivities and diversity.	56
Final Thoughts	
References	59
Appendix	67

Chapter 1 – Prologue: Death as Another Beginning

Death as a Part of Life and as The Law of Nature

"For death is but a passing phase of life" (para. 46), the poet Leibfreed wrote (n.d.). The journey to death starts since the moment of birth; death is the law of nature. No matter how hard we try to stay away from it, all earthlings die at some point – death is an inevitable part of life. One by one, someone we know will die in our lifetime, and each of us will witness the death of others during the course of our own lives. At some point in our lives, we will also lose our loved ones – our parents, siblings, friends, pets, etc. – to death. We will grieve those losses as we witness each death. Subsequently, we also will die in the end, and someone will grieve our death. Grief and bereavement are a result of losses we go through, whether that is from death, separation, dislocation, or losing a physical or psychological ability; the list goes on. Grief refers to a normal reaction and experience following a significant loss (Park & Halifax, 2011; Winokuer & Harris, 2012). Winokuer and Harris (2012) further define loss as lack of something that is meaningful and important. Grief is also a mental process as it evokes "shock, denial, numbness, anger, longing, yearning, searching, disorganization, despair, and potential reorganization" (Park & Halifax, 2011, p. 355) – many emotions, thoughts, and processes go through one's mind. Additionally, no grief experience or reaction is the same. Winokuer and Harris (2012) suggest that proper care and attention should be given for those suffering from significant loss as this grieving process could be hurtful to them. Because we love and care about someone or something, many of us feel loss and emptiness when those we cherish disappear. Each loss and grief we experience is different and can be complex. In fact, grief could be more complicated than some people may think. Moreover, each grieving individual experience and process grief in their own, unique ways. This uniqueness of grief and how people grieve are

influenced by different factors, for example: "personality traits, the presence of concurrent stressors and previous losses, the nature of the losses, and the social expectations that are present" (Winokuer & Harris, 2012, p. 26).

Grief and Bereavement

Grief may bring pain and sadness – or even anger – to a person at times. Some grieving people feel intense emotions while processing their grief. These feelings and emotions come and go like the waves of the ocean. There are days when they feel fine and happy, not thinking about the deceased. But there are also days when they feel like drawing with the intense emotions of sadness, anger, helplessness, emptiness, to list a few. Although many grieving individuals would ride the waves of emotions – some may laugh while others cry (Bonanno, 2009), or some might surrender "to the natural rhythms of grief" (Romanyshyn, 1999) -, some people may feel relieved after witnessing the death of someone. Such relief may come for various reasons, having taken care of that person for a long time, for example. After a while though, grieving individuals not only experience less intense emotions but the waves of emotions also become calmer. They might have more days when they feel happy and content, and fewer days when they feel crappy, unlike at the beginning of their journey through grief. That is a natural course of grief. The philosopher Watts once said: "But we live in a culture where it has been rubbed into us in every conceivable way that to die is a terrible thing. And that is a tremendous disease from which our culture, in particular, suffers" (Life Eternal, 2015, 3:21). Even just talking about death is a big taboo in many societies and cultures. Many people do not even want to talk about their own death or someone close to them. Instead of talking about death, many people and scientists have been trying to find the 'cure' to death - immortality. But in spite of avoiding talking and

thinking, and all the research about immortality, we all die no matter what. In other words, death and grief are always following us wherever we go, no matter where we try to hide.

For many people, grief itself is a difficult thing to go through regardless of who they are, where they are from, and what their past experience might be. In fact, Northcott and Wilson (2008) state that "the social institutions – family, religion, the heath care system, the legal system, and the funeral industry" (p. 67) influence the ideas and practices of death, as well as grief in our society. Hence grief and its experience are interconnected by many factors which can make it difficult to comprehend. Moreover, if individuals are going through grief – one of the most difficult times in life – without culturally sensitive support, they could feel and be socially isolated.

The Beginning of My Grief Journey

In 2014, I lost two important beings who died within three months of each other. The first death was my beloved family pet. One of many unique aspects about this loss is my grief experience within the context of pet loss. I have witnessed death and experienced grief more than once before; however, this was my first death of a pet / animal companion. I also did not have the opportunity to partake in any death rituals after her death. My grandmother died less than three months after my beloved dog died. Even though I was fortunate enough to be able to attend her funeral – keeping in mind that not every grieving individual has an opportunity to attend a funeral for various reasons (such as finance or distance) –, I was unable to practice other death rituals that followed after her funeral. Not only were these losses unexpected to some degree, but I also have experienced these instances of grief, especially the mourning of the losses and death rituals, in the culture and the society with which I did not identify personally; I was born and raised in Japan and have moved to Canada in my adulthood as an international student (since

2006). Although I had support from people around me, I did not have the supports which are culturally familiar.

Being an international student in Canada. My personal experiences are one of a kind because we all have our own unique worldviews. Yet, this does not mean I am not alone in events like these I have experienced. In reality, I am one of many temporary residents who are in Canada for various reasons and who are often times alone, away from their family. In addition to that, the total population of Canada consists of 20.6% foreign-born population in 2011 (Statistics Canada, 2016); this could mean that one out of ten individuals might live in a fluid world in which they negotiate different sets of meaning and values from different cultural and social values. Furthermore, temporary residents are only about 1% of the total estimated population of Canada; in 2013, there are 118,024 temporary foreign workers (Citizenship and Immigration of Canada, 2014) and 304,876 international students in Canada (Citizenship and Immigration of Canada, 2014). Another important thing to note is that there has been increasing numbers of refugees fleeing to Canada, away from their familiarities and their cultural traditions. There is also anecdotal evidence that majority of people who access to the British Columbia Bereavement Helpline where I have volunteered seem to: speak English as their mother tongue, have Anglo-Saxon names, and/or have been born in Canada (K. Ratchford, personal communication, January 30, 2015). The British Columbia Bereavement Helpline offers its users information and refers them to the services they are seeking (i.e., counselling and a support group). With this information in mind, I wonder if grieving temporary or permanent residents, or people of different cultural and societal values from general ones, might have less access to such available services and support in a community, perhaps due to language and cultural barriers, for example.

Grieving death of an animal companion. I also would like to bring an attention to grief resulting from the death of a pet. The Canadian veterinary medical association (2011) estimates that 35% of Canadian households have dogs and 38% of them own cats. For many pet owners, a family pet is indeed a family member, and many people develop a strong bond and attachment with their animals. Therefore, some pet owners experience grief and emotions that come with pet loss. However, some people, especially someone who never had an animal as a pet, might not understand the significance and impact of grief after the death of an animal companion. Hence I think it is important to investigate grief from death of a pet.

The Reason Why I am Writing About My Grief Experiences for Thesis

This thesis has evolved and changed over time as I was processing my own grief in my own way, with expectation of how this thesis 'should' look in my eyes. Because I was compelled to process and share my experience, I have decided to write this thesis through autoethnography. Even though this thesis may not impact the whole research community or general public, I have chosen to share my grief and its process I have been experiencing because I want to let readers like yourself know that your grief experience is unique and special in your own way, no matter who you have lost and how crazy you might be feeling because of the grief. If sharing my grief process would impact someone who is in the midst of grief storm in some way, I think and hope that sharing my story would serve to help them through their grief journey.

What You Can Expect For The Rest of This Thesis

Throughout this thesis, readers will experience the fluid world in which I have created and lived within a cross-cultural context, along with my struggles to negotiate the worlds and sets of meanings that have been evoked by the deaths of my beloved beings. In chapter two, I will explain how I deliver this thesis. I will address how researchers are able to express and share

their personal experience — often times something very close to their heart — in academic contexts to bring something beneficial to fellow researchers and readers. I will also explain how I use autoethnography as a research method to provide an objective insight into my grief experience. Followed in chapter three, my experiences and processes will be shared; readers will learn what it was like for me to experience grief over my losses during the first year in chapter three, and then in chapter four, I will relate my experience in the second year following their death. After a close look of my recent grief journey, I will identify themes in my experiences that are similar to the existing researches. Finally in chapter five, I will present the summary of my story as well as findings from literatures. In addition to that, I will discuss and address the limitations of this study. I will conclude this thesis with the implications from this research and recommendations for counsellors.

Chapter 2 – Delivery of My Story: Story Telling as a Research Method

Different Research Designs

For this study, I have chosen to use a qualitative research method, specifically an autoethnography. While quantitative researches are often used in a scientific research, such as to determine an effect of a medication by comparing a group with a controlled group, qualitative methods are commonly used in the context of social sciences (Ellis, Adams, & Bochner, 2011; 2008). Moreover, while quantitative research methods statistical Hanson. use measurement/analysis to observe results, qualitative research methods generally explore experiences of individuals or 'research subjects' (Slife & Melling, 2012). Slife and Melling (2012) further state that two methodologies vary in ways of epistemology (how we know what we know and what counts as knowledge), symbolism (translating the world), and metaphysics (thinking about the world). Quantitative research methods seek universal and generalized knowledge with statistical measurements whereas qualitative methods gather personal experiences through verbal and non-verbal communications (Slife & Mellings, 2012). In addition to that, qualitative researchers are interested in understanding patterns of meaning people give to their experiences while quantitative researchers examine the laws of nature and cause-and-effect relationships (Slife & Melling, 2012). Hence results and measurements of quantitative methods could often be used to generalize. On the other hand, because of the uniqueness of individuals' experiences and subjectivity, analysis of qualitative research methods is usually hard to generalize (Hanson, 2008; Mendenhall, Pratt, Phelps, & Baird, 2012; Slife & Melling, 2012).

An autoethnography is a qualitative research method. Adam and Ellis (2011) write that an author of autoethnography "selectively writes about meaningful experiences – those epiphanies – that are made possible by being part of a culture and from possessing a particular cultural

identity" (p. 199) and "analyze[s] these epiphanies by comparing them to existing research [...], and using their academic training to interrogate the meaning of an experience" (p. 199). Bochner (2012) also explains that an autoethnography aims to connect "social sciences to humanities through storytelling" (p. 156). In other words, a personal experience is academically presented in a narrative form to understand a unique experience within the cultural context (Adams & Ellis, 2011). Human beings are unique individuals and so are their personal experiences, encounters, and interpretations; our experiences are very subjective. Although an autoethnography could be a personal story in an academic context, it also needs to be somewhat applicable to others (Ellis et al., 2011). Adams and Ellis (2011) along with Philaretou and Allen (2006) further suggest that participating in an autoethnographic research could be therapeutic to a study participant(s). Although some study participants might find telling a personal experience difficult to share, this experience of story telling could also be rewarding and participants might have the opportunity to self-reflect on their experience (Anderson, 2006).

The word *autoethnography* can be divided into three consisting words: auto-, ethno-, and –graphy (Ellis & Bochner, 2000; Ellis et al., 2011). *Auto-* means self (Ellis & Bochner, 2000; Ellis et al., 2011). *Ethno-* means race or culture (Ellis & Bochner, 2000; Ellis et al., 2011). *Graphy-*, on the other hand, can be described as process of a research (Ellis & Bochner, 2000; Ellis et al., 2011). Therefore, an autoethnography means scholarly self-reflection and description of one's experience within the context of culture (Ellis & Bochner, 2000; Ellis et al., 2011). Moreover, an autoethnography could provide readers a living experience of the culture of which she is a part.

Mentioning the role of a researcher also might seem important. Unlike any other research designs, a researcher in an autoethnography can be a participant while conducting her research.

In fact, authors of their studies being research participants are common with an autoethnography method (Ellis & Bochner, 2000). Anderson (2006) states that the researcher is involved in the study as her worldview affects how she analyzes and describes the study result. Unlike results of qualitative methods, which are often statistical, the result of an autoethnography is, more often than not, delivered in a form of narrative (Adams & Ellis, 2011; Ellis & Bochner, 2000). Even though there may be a possibility of a study result being biased due to the subjective nature of personal involvements, academically sharing one's personal experience would allow the researcher to look deeply into the experience and find some cultural relations (Bochner, 2012).

Ethical Consideration in Autoethnography

Every researcher needs to be aware of ethical consideration if they recruit living beings, especially people as study participants. Each research conducting a study on human subjects must keep in mind not only any potential risks of harm but also the need for confidentiality. Therefore, to protect confidentiality of research participants, any individuals referenced in a study will often have their names and contexts changed, especially in qualitative research methods. In this study, I am the sole study subject and I will only be disclosing my personal encounter and experience of grief. I will be describing my life experience in this autoethnography, which in many ways has been influenced by people around me, especially my family. However due to the nature of autoethnography which I describe my life experience, I may mention some people without specifically identifying them, especially my family, in a way that readers may perhaps recognize their identities. Therefore, to protect confidentiality of the participants, any individuals possibly referenced in this study will have their names and contexts changed. In addition to that, because of the relationships we have, my family – including myself – has signed consent forms, which they have been provided with Japanese translated forms. The

consent forms explained to them potential risks while I conduct this research, along with their acknowledgements of my thesis and their influence on my experience.

Sharing a personal story or story has the potential to 'stir up' unresolved issues (i.e., past trauma); hence providing study participants some extra supports is encouraged. Those supports could be a counselling and peer support for some; some may engage in exercises. In other words, engaging in self-care has an important part to play while conducting researches, especially in qualitative researches.

Instruments and Data Collection

Memory and self-reflection were used as a data collection in this study. Memory is a recollection of past events, but it does not mirror or present the exact past event (Monaco, 2010). Memory and self- reflection can take different forms and engagements, such as recording (video and/or audio), writing, drawing, or photographs. Furthermore, the context of the event might affect the accuracy and reliability of memory recall (Snelgrove & Havitz, 2010). Holmes as well as Walker, Vogl, and Thompson (as cited in Crawley, 2010) state that originally experienced memories with strong emotions lose their intensity over time. This fading of the original emotion would help reduce the possible interference when one is recalling the memory (Conway & Pleydell-Pearce as cited in Crawley, 2010). In addition to that, grief may affect memory of a grieving individual. Because of the fact of accepting the realty of someone's death, cognition of some grievers may be impacted (Shear, Boelen, & Neimeyer, 2011). The contexts of memories also reconfigure and change at times. For example, some people might only have 'negative' memories of a deceased right after the death for whatever reasons, but those memories may turn into positive ones as time goes by. In other words, the collection of data in this study might lack

the original meaning and intensity of the events I have experienced. Nonetheless, I will reflect on those events as truthfully, reliable, and authentically as possible.

Data Analysis

This paper is written in a narrative form and includes my recollection of a previous state of mind, what I was feeling (or not feeling), as well as self-reflection on the grieving process that I engaged in while taking courses. As someone who lives in two different cultures and societies fluidly, this paper will put emphasis on how an intercultural context and fluidity may impact grieving. While keeping a journal could have helped me recall my feelings and thoughts in the wake of the death of my dog Rabu and grandmother, the narrative component of my autoethnographic work has helped me revisit and reflect on my grieving process, together with bringing my memories of grief to the surface. I have detailed memories of a timeline – so to speak – of the events followed after their death and how I was right after their death because their death was so significant to me. Putting these memories into words evoked more memories; as a matter of fact, the process of writing this study has greatly helped my memories to arise; this thesis seemed to turn into my journal.

Chapter 3 – Death and Grief at Last

Death of Rabu

Rabu and me. Rabu, our beloved family dog, has very special place in my heart. She died at the age of 14 years and 11 months in April 2014. She became a member of our family when I was 15 years old. At that time, I was struggling with myself and my life in general. I was struggling to meet the expectation others had of me while simultaneously going through puberty. My body was changing the way I did not want it to or expect, all the while my brain was taken over by hormonal changes; no one had told me what I should have expected during puberty. At age 14, I started engaging in self-harm to alleviate emotions – especially anger – because I did not know – or even feel – how to express them. In Japanese culture and society where I was raised, expressing anger is not encouraged or accepted because the emotion could disrupt the harmony of a group. In other words, the importance of a group comes before individual needs since collectivism is the main value of the culture and the society. I would cut myself or punch walls whenever my bucket of emotions was full; there was a lid to the bucket so that I did not need to feel anything. But because the bucket had the lid on it, there was limit to how much emotion it could keep contained. A year later, at age 15, I started to restrict my eating – my struggle with eating had begun. At the beginning, I restricted myself from eating food (i.e., anorexic), then I binged ate (i.e., bulimic). The two 'symptoms' came and went alternatively every couple of months. I also did not have dreams or ideas of what I wanted to become. Because of that, more than once I thought about ending my life; I thought to myself, "what is the point of living if I have nothing to look forward to?". I did not see a point of living. I hated myself – what I was and who I was – so much, for such a long time. I was so uncomfortable being in my own skin. Although people around me thought that I needed help because I had lost a lot of weight, I did not believe that I was sick. I thought I felt totally fine and I saw myself as fat in a mirror; I did not see myself objectively or perceived myself in the same way as others saw me.

In Japan, mandatory education ends at age 15. Thus whoever wants to go to high school is required to take an entrance exam, and majority of junior high school students do go to a high school. I asked my parents to get me a golden retriever if I got into one of the top public high schools in Tokyo. They agreed, and I was looking forward to it very much. It was summer time and I had lost a significant amount of weight by then, to the point that I was recommended to be hospitalized if I would lose another five kilograms (approximately 11 pound). Perhaps because my parents were quite concerned about my physical well-being, they took me to a breeder who had two golden retriever puppies for sale. I was happy but confused inside, and I did not show any emotions because I was being a teenager – being rebellious. In fact, I acted as though I was annoyed because I had to go outside with my family – typical teenager! And a few weeks after the visit, we had a 3-month old golden retriever puppy. She was so fluffy and cuddly; she was a bundle of life and joy. I instantaneously fell in love with her. We named her Rabu, meaning 'love' in English.

Did I get better? No. I still struggled with who I was, what and who I wanted to become; I was still cutting myself, punching walls, and enduring sharp fluctuations of my weight. But no matter what I was going through, Rabu was there for me, sitting beside me and looking at me, almost as if she was saying, "I am here for you". She has given me comfort when I felt nobody was supporting me or I was not understood. I still remember one specific evening when everyone was eating dinner but I was having hot milk on the kitchen floor as my dinner. I was restricting my diet at this time, to the point of calculating every single food intake I had. Rabu sat next to

me and waited until I had finished my 'meal' instead of waiting under the table for someone to drop food like she always had done. There was no judgment or concern; she was just sitting there right next to me. Rabu may have been a dog but she was more than that to me; she was a sister, a friend, and a non-judgmental being. I developed a special bond with her; she provided me unconditional love, a judgmental-free attitude, and a safe place to be myself.

I left Japan to study English abroad for about three months when I was 21. The joy and happiness Rabu expressed when I came back home was heart warming; she was so excited to see me, wagging her tail off like crazy and whining as though she was saying "I missed you! Where have you been?!" I left Japan again to come to Canada to pursue my academic career when I turned 22. Rabu was 6 years old by then. Again, she was very excited to see me whenever I visited my family, welcoming me at the front door, wagging her tail, up until to the last few visits before she died. We even communicated by using Skype; she recognized my voice but she seemed quite puzzled when trying to figure out where my voice was coming from.

Her health deteriorated gradually as she aged. As many golden retriever experience, Rabu had both hip issues and tumours. She had surgery to remove the tumours on her back and breast years back; she also underwent an emergency surgery for ovarian cysts. Because of her age and her previous experiences, my parents decided to let the tumours be when Rabu started to be covered with tumours in her later life.

Then Rabu died. I would take care of Rabu whenever I went back to Japan visiting my family. I would take her for walks in the morning, evening, and night. I fed her and I brushed her almost every day. I gave her all the attentions and love I could give at any given moment although she sometimes demanded more or less of it. Because of the pain in her hips, she was not able to go up stairs to the living room, neither could she run or walk normally. Rabu was getting

older and weaker; though the change was subtle, it was evident. In fact, dogs age much faster than humans (Bastian, 2015). One day, she was running for food, three months later she was not able to run anymore; she could only limp on her back legs. A few weeks after, she was not able to stand up on her own. Less than a month after, she stopped eating and within a few days, on April 25, she died.

I knew from the moment I left Japan the very first time to come to Canada that I would not be in Japan when Rabu died. With that in my mind, I had said goodbye to her like I meant it each time I visited my family. Towards the end of her life, I also told her that she did not need to wait for me to come back; she was free to go whenever she decided that it is her time.

I prepared myself when I was notified that Rabu stopped eating — one of my grandmothers died three days after she stopped eating. This gave me an approximate timeline of her death. I was also fortunate enough to be put on Skype just after she died, and my family was kind enough to include me as much as they could. I saw the dead body which Rabu used to be in. It was surreal but altogether too real. But the fact was, she was not there anymore. What I saw when I would see Rabu was now gone from the body I saw over Skype, which was alien to me. What I saw was hairy animal that I did not really recognize. I did not feel fear or disgust in seeing the dead body. But I was not able to 'attach' myself to or cry over the remains, because I simply did not see my beloved Rabu in them. In addition to that, I also felt that I was an outsider, observing the processes my family was engaging in; I watched them clean her body and say their goodbyes. Interestingly enough, I was able to observe my position as it was happening. While they were doing what they were doing, I felt somewhat detached from the whole thing. I was witnessing what they were doing and their initial reaction to the death of Rabu. I was grateful to be invited to witness her death via Skype, but I felt like I was not involved in the event. I was

like a researcher observing study participants through a one-way mirror. I was seeing the dead body of Rabu without any physical or emotional connections towards it.

Right after her death. As I expected and prepared myself for the death of Rabu, I was here in Vancouver, doing the things I always did when she died. Everything looked the same to me; Rabu had not been in my 'regular' life for eight years at that point. My life in Vancouver has not been affected by her presence regardless of her death. But I knew and felt her absence in this world and in my life. I was not feeling it physically but I knew cognitively and emotionally that she was now dead – she will no longer be at the front door when I open it the next time I visit Japan.

Of course, I was extremely sad that Rabu was now gone. I closed my eyes to either calm down or feel the sadness. I repeated *lokah samastah sukhino bhavantu*, meaning 'may all beings everywhere be happy and free' in Sanskrit (Gannon, 2010). I felt some comfort in knowing that she was no longer in pain or discomfort. Instead of the pain or whatever she had been feeling, she was now free from the pain and running around freely. Perhaps, I was rationalizing her death instead of feeling it. During this time I also remembered this story:

Just this side of heaven is a place called Rainbow Bridge.

When an animal dies that has been especially close to someone here, that pet goes to Rainbow Bridge.

There are meadows and hills for all of our special friends so they can run and play together.

There is plenty of food, water and sunshine, and our friends are warm and comfortable.

All the animals who had been ill and old are restored to health and vigor; those who were hurt or maimed are made whole and strong again; just as we remember them in our dreams of days and times gone by.

The animals are happy and content, except for one small thing; they each miss someone very special to them, who had to be left behind.

They all run and play together, but the day comes when one suddenly stops and looks into the distance. His bright eyes are intent; His eager body quivers. Suddenly he begins to run from the group, flying over the green grass, his legs carrying him faster and faster.

You have been spotted, and when you and your special friend finally meet, you cling together in joyous reunion, never to be parted again. The happy kisses rain upon your face; you hands again caress the beloved head, and you look once more into the trusting eyes of your pet, so long gone from your life but never absent from your heart.

Then you cross Rainbow Bridge together.... (Rainbow Bridge, n.d.)

Some people may think that I was trying to avoid feeling the emotions like I used to do (or still do). I was sad but I also thought that Rabu was now finally at peace. Since Rabu and I did not have the same language to communicate, she could not express where it hurt. But the truth of her death was that she did not need to suffer anymore, and I could find comfort in that. Or this thought is my perspective as a human being. I was experiencing the death of Rabu cognitively and intellectually as well as emotionally. I had a couple of sleepless nights, I lost my appetite, and I had a hard time focusing. I felt like I was in a deep ocean; my surroundings kept moving like the ocean flow while I was just a big heavy rock in the bottom of the ocean. I constantly felt heaviness in my chest.

A year after death of Rabu (written in 2015). I still have a difficult time approaching a golden retriever without getting emotional. Regardless of whether someone dies or not, life goes on no matter what. My life went on with schoolwork like nothing has changed. The only thing that had changed was that Rabu was no longer with me.

About a month after her death, I went back to Japan to visit my grandmother who was in the hospital, recovering from surgery she had in March of 2014. I then finally saw the ashes of Rabu. The cinerary urn did not look anything like her; it was just a rounded ceramic jar wrapped in a white cloth. So that I could experience and feel what she was seeing during the final moments of her life, I lay down on the spot on which she usually laid and where she took her the very last breath. She no longer woke me up in the morning to take her for a walk and to feed her. Although I felt happy not to be woken up at six in the morning, I also felt something was missing from my daily routine in Japan. I would miss her the most when I was vacuuming the house, which was surprising to me. I have found that vacuuming is much easier now but also boring because there is no shed hair and Rabu is not lying on the floor blocking the way. This might sound stupid, but small things like this reminded me of her death. One time, several months after her death I woke up because I heard Rabu barking. This might have just been my imagination but it was at the exact time she would bark in the morning. Rabu is gone, but the memory and the presence of her still remain with me.

I still miss her greatly and I am having a difficult time fully accepting her death. Perhaps me not having participated in any of the rituals associated with her death might have something to do with it. Many cultures, societies, and families – including health care systems – 'expect' grieving individuals to 'get over' and 'move along' with their lives after a certain amount of time passes. As a result of expectations or what seems 'normal', some people might start to think that

there could be something wrong with them because they are still feeling sad and having difficult time getting through their day since the death of the loved one. I identify with that feeling. It has been about a year passed since Rabu died. But I am still struggling with the overwhelming emotions. I have imagined that these feelings would be gone by now; instead, I am feeling sadder than right after her death. Not only that, the waves of grief hit me more often than last year. I then started to wonder, "is this normal? Should my grieving be have been over by now? What is wrong with me?" Oddly and sadly – in my opinion –, the fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder (DSM-5) suggests that some people could be 'diagnosed' with complicated grief, which is a persistent complex bereavement disorder, and the criterion of this diagnosis is to experience "symptoms" for at least six months (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Winokuer and Harris (2012) describe this complicated grief as the bereaved individual experiencing "prolonged acute grief symptoms" (p. 147). Even though many of us have never been taught how to go about grieving, there seems to be an unwritten script of how we are 'supposed to' express and 'deal with' grief. In addition to that, if a bereaved person is not following the script, she could be told that she might need some expert help to deal with her grief. I was writing this section in 2015, a year after death of Rabu; even so, I was still feeling the pain of her death. Not only that, I expected to go along with my life with the memories of Rabu instead of missing her terribly. With all that in my mind, the words 'complicated grief' suddenly popped in my head, making me wonder: 'am I not normal that I am still grieving my dog?'

Regardless of a 'label' or possible diagnosis, no two instances of grief or loss are the same, and each person experiences grief and loss in their own way. Because no death and grief are the same, grieving individuals, including myself, often face unique grief processes. Some

might express their grief through arts (e.g., music, painting), sharing and talking with others, or dancing, while some might process their grief through journaling or doing nothing. There is also no timeline to how long or short the initial grief – for the lack of a better term – should last; there is no timeline or clock. Pathologizing grief, to me, seems like a Western perspective that is based on medical models; as Prechtel (2015) states, "grief is natural" (p. 3), "grief is necessary" (p. 3), and "grief is not depression" (p. 5). I have not sought help for 'dealing with' this grief specifically as I have some coping skills and I know how to deal with my emotions, not to mention I have not found the need for it. At the same time, I am hesitant to say that people would understand what I have gone through. I lost someone very important to me, but that someone was an animal, not a human being. Some people who might have not had pets in their lives may say that it is just a dog. But pets are not just animals; they are companions to many pet owners. Although pets have significantly shorter life span than us humans, they become a part of our family, our friends, and an integral part of our life. To me, Rabu was a sister, a friend, and a therapist. She did not ask for much, except food, walk, and a lot of petting, belly rubs included. But she has given me so much. As living beings, we all die no matter what species we are; this is an inevitable fact. Cowles (as cited in Wrobel & Dye, 2003) suggests that the closer the relationships we have and the stronger the bonds they are, the stronger are the emotional reactions to the loss. As I left Japan at age 21, Rabu was not really a direct part of my life for years. But she was always in my heart, as she will always be. I will have another golden retriever in the near future; but no other golden retriever will be the same as her or replace her. Only Rabu is Rabu, and that will never change. I will probably forget some memories that I have about her as time goes by, but she always has a special place in my heart.

Death of Grandmother

My grandma and I. My grandmother – the closest of my grandparents and the last remaining one I had – died rather unexpectedly at the beginning of July, 2014. Her death was less than three months after Rabu's. My grandmother lived at less than a five-minute walk from our home, so I have spent a lot of times at her home since I was a baby. Her place also became a shelter for me when I was struggling with myself; I would go there right after I got home from school, until it was dinnertime. I would watch TV and eat ice creams while helping my grandmother with things like bringing dinner to my late grandfather. I even became one of his primary caregivers in his later life as he had become weaker and he had to spend most of his time in bed. I would take him to and helped him in the bathroom, I would attend when he ate, and I would support him when he walked. I spent my time after school at their home almost everyday. Even after he died, I would visit my grandmother very often until I left Japan. Whenever I visited Japan, I was her listener; she – as a rule – never cried in front of people, yet she cried at least once during my visits. Looking back, I can understand why she was like that to me: she felt safe enough to be vulnerable with me.

Her diagnosis. My grandmother was 88 years old but had not really had any major health issues in her entire life. But when she got checked for colorectal cancer in 2013, her result came back undetermined and it was recommended she go through further tests. That was at the end of 2013. Although my mother is the youngest of two (assuming that older sibling is expected to have those important conversations), she had to tell my grandmother about the test result and the possibility of cancer. I happened to be in Japan when things were unfolding. I was also there with my mother when my grandmother went to the hospital for her first visit. She had to have a few tests to determine whether she indeed had colorectal cancer or not. She had to go through further tests to examine the possibility of stomach cancer when the final test for colorectal cancer

came back negative. She was then finally diagnosed with advanced stomach cancer and scheduled to have surgery in March. She agreed, or perhaps just agreed to what her doctor thought was the best treatment for her. I also accompanied her when she was admitted to the hospital, and I visited her almost everyday when I was in Japan in March of 2014. She was recovering very slowly after her surgery as she was not eating much; her stomach was now one third smaller than it used be, and she expressed that the hospital food was too sweet after eating it every day for the past few months. She had kept loosing weight as the result of that. My family was quite concerned; I even spoke with her over Skype, encouraging her to eat so that she could get better soon and go home. That was the goal she had; she just wanted to go back to her own home.

Due to the circumstance and in order to give my family a break, I also visited her in June during the term break. I again visited her almost every day. I would bring things she might eat, especially watermelons. I would bring some other items that she had requested. Whenever I visited her, she was timid and she even cried; her body was not recovering the way she might have imagined it would. She believed that she would have left the hospital less than a week after the surgery, while I thought that she would need more than a week to recover because of her age. She might have thought that her body was as though it was still in her twenties. Or maybe she had not accepted the fact that she was indeed sick; at least that is how I thought. To me, she seemed to be in denial. I asked her what has been bugging her mind just before her surgery – "are you scared of dying, grandma?", I asked. I cannot recall other conversations we had but I clearly remember that day when she confidently said that she was not afraid of death.

She planned to go back to home on July 10th as she was staying in the floor more than three months at that point; the hospital where she stayed has a policy in which patients on the

surgical floors are only allowed to stay for three months at the most, unless the care is absolutely needed. She also went back to her home over weekends for a few times to get used to the life outside of the hospital. She even moved the hospital floor so that she might be more comfortable for the remaining days in the hospital. She was still not eating much and she spent most of her time lying down on the bed, but otherwise she was physically fine though I must say that she seemed mentally defeated to some degree.

Her sudden death. I headed back to Vancouver to attend the summer term on July 1st after visiting my family and grandmother over the term break in June. Everything was fine when I left; my grandmother was fine. However, her condition suddenly changed overnight, and she died on July 3rd, 2014. I was in shock and disbelief when I was informed that she died in the early morning. I had to ask which grandmother they were referring to even though she was the only grandparent alive. I burst into tears after I hung up on Skype. Then I felt angry at her: why now, why today, why this time? I was there three days ago. You were fine. You came down to the elevator to say bye and waved at me until you could not see me anymore. But now, after sleeping two nights and getting back to my regular life, I need to fly back again?! How can you do that to me and to my mother, to those who have taken care of you the most while you were in the hospital (my mother was in Sri Lanka, trying to recharge her batteries before my grandmother returned to home)? While I was going through this emotional turmoil, I also had to get tickets to go back to home as early as possible, re-packing what I just unpacked, and informing the school that I would not attend the first week of the classes. I was not even sure when I would return to Vancouver as the date of the funeral was not yet set at that time. Since I was not physically there and I was in the midst of mental chaos – disbelief, shock, and some anger – along with being sick (feverish, stuffed nose, and sore throat) and burnt out from visiting home, the death of my grandmother did not really sink in until I actually saw her body. I also felt some degree of regret at one point; did she die because my mom and I left, and no one was there to visit her? Would she still be alive if only I stayed with her a little bit longer? Was I hard on her when I left (we just moved her room before I headed out to the airport, and she requested me to buy a cup of watermelon when I needed to leave the hospital)? Although I knew that it was not my fault that she had died – it was simply her time to go – and that my absence had nothing to do with her death, I felt some remorse just the same.

After her death. I did not see my grandmother in her remains; she was gone like when I saw Rabu's. To be honest, I was a little bit scared at first when I saw her body – her eyes were not completely closed and I felt like they were looking into me. The grandmother I knew was long gone. The body was cold and without any life energy or force. The person I knew was no longer there. The body looked like hers but without her energy, it did not look like her. Although she knitted her brows all the time while she was in the hospital – perhaps because she was in pain or discomfort – that was also gone. The only thing that was same was the smoothness of her facial skin. It remained that way until the moment her body was cremated.

The difference I felt in the death of my grandmother from death of Rabu was that I was able to participate in most of the death rituals. Because most, if not all, funerals are held along the customs of Buddhism in Japan, people keep burning incense for the deceased until the body is cremated. I witnessed her body being dressed for her journey after death, being coffined, and leaving her own home for the very last time.

A Japanese funeral in the Buddhist style consists of two parts; first there is a wake in the evening, then there is the funeral early on the following day. I was able to attend both days. I cannot really recall the state of my mind or emotions through the process, but I was more attuned

with the needs of others and I provided emotional supports. I did not drop any tears while I was in Japan. I felt relieved that everything was done and I could go back home to Vancouver; but once there, especially when I arrived in Vancouver, I was able to let go.

Because of the ritualistic (or may be Buddhist) tradition, people join hands in prayer for the deceased. I have had no problems doing so before, but this time I struggled doing it. The death of Rabu has given me a new insight into death. When I saw the body of Rabu, I realized that what makes us who we are as beings is the energy and perhaps the spirit of the particular beings. The body and the skin we are in right now are just a shell we live in for as long as the heart is beating. I saw the bodies that Rabu and my grandmother were in. But because they left their shells, what I saw was just bodies rather than who they were before. Because I only saw the body but not my grandmother, I was not able to put my hands together in prayer. Some might say that I was in denial, and I might had been; but Rabu taught me something about living and dying, and my grandmother has in a sense shown me that what I have learned from the death of Rabu is my new perspective about life and death. In the end, I put my hands together in prayer because of the expectation of others attending the funeral, but my mind struggled to come to terms with why I found it difficult.

Returning to Vancouver. I came back to Vancouver a day after the funeral. Everything here was the same as when I left 10 days ago; the sun was shining and school kept going. I arrived in Vancouver on Sunday and I had to go back to school on the next day. I felt awkward and hesitant to go back to school as I did not want the shower of sympathy. My rational side and irrational side were having a debate on whether I should go to school or not; I knew I had to but I truly did not want to go. In the end I went to school on the next morning, Monday, as I had planned.

I felt numb most of the time for a while. I also felt like I was surrounded by the fog or by clouds since the death of my grandmother. My emotional state and mood were like waves in the ocean; they came and went. I felt totally fine some days but I also felt like crap other times. I thought that there was something wrong with me when I felt fine. I thought I should feel and be sad; instead, I felt nothing even though I was aware that the intense emotion of grief indeed comes and goes, and numbness can be a reactions to grief (Winokuer & Harris, 2012). Ironically, one of the courses I was taking in this term was Grief and Loss counselling. I felt numb and I was isolating myself from others. My body was also expressing my grief; I struggled with quite bad headaches and nausea. I literally experienced the truth about bereavement; each death and its grief vary from others. Yet I sometimes felt that I was judging my process of the two instances of grief as if I *should* have been feeling this or that way. But at the same time, I was able to tell and keep reminding myself that there was no right or wrong way to feel or experience grief; there were just the ways I was experiencing these particular grieving journey.

Although I was aware enough of what was going on inside of me in terms of feelings and emotions, I sometimes felt that the death of my grandmother was not real. Because I left Japan a day after the funeral, I was cut off from other rituals that took place until the 49th day from the death of my grandmother. Based on the Buddhist beliefs, many Japanese think that it takes 49 days for a deceased to reach the other side, so to speak, and people are encouraged – if not required – to offer incense sticks every day until the cremated ashes are put into the grave. Then around, but before, 49 days after the death, relatives get together again and lay the ashes to rest. I was not there throughout this time. I did not feel bad or disappointed about this; but I did feel left out to some degree from what could have been an important part of the process of grieving for me.

Chapter 4 – Life Goes On

Reflecting On The Two Deaths

Cultural and societal contexts. Although I do not identify myself with the Canadian (or North American) culture particularly, the cultural contexts in which I have found myself have affected how I have processed my experiences with grief. Within the Japanese cultural and societal contexts, people do not ask others how they feel. In fact, people do not share or express feelings with each other much because many Japanese people hold some sort of value that there is virtue in withholding emotions; to put it simply, Japanese people just do not talk about how they feel. I was not accustomed to express or pay attention to how I felt for a long time because I simply did not need to share my emotions or pay attention to them in Japan. In contrast, within the Canadian cultural context, not to mention during my attendance to this counselling program, I have become more aware of my feelings and emotions. I increasingly felt comfortable enough to pay attention to what is going on inside of me. As a result, I was able to put the numbness into words instead of 'feeling' nothing – being okay with feeling numb –, and I also observed my self-criticism. This is one of the differences that I have noticed in these grief processes. When one of my grandfathers to who I was close died 12 years ago, I did not feel anything as though I was depressed; when he died, I wanted to do nothing or feel anything. My eating disorder was still in full swing at this time, so I was quite mentally 'unstable' and anorexia had a hold of me. My grieving processes with these recent losses, on the other hand, have affected me differently. As I have mentioned previously, I have experienced the grief more physically than psychologically. Not only that, I was able to notice my emotional turmoil while being comfortable with the ride. Being able to acknowledge my emotions and feelings may be due to being in a culture which makes it easier to express them. Furthermore, there are linguistic differences between these two cultures about grief and loss. With English, the words *grief* and *loss* are used in appropriate contexts as well as being discussed. However, even though there are similar words to *grief* and *loss* in Japanese language, these words are not something people use or acknowledge often; perhaps simply because people do not talk about emotions or feelings associated with death and the emotions that come along with it. Japanese people are also 'expected' to read between the lines and understand the situation within Japanese culture, society, and its spoken language; it is 'expected' because it is rather a learned 'custom' or some sorts while growing up.

I have felt open to my grief process culturally as I have been aware of my emotions and feelings; yet, I have also felt socially alone and isolated. I am also not familiar with how this society and culture deal with death and grief. As I am aware of and know how to behave with regard to death within the Japanese culture and society, there are unspoken expectations of how others act in certain ways when someone has loss in their family. Nevertheless, because I have limited ideas of how this society in a general may or may not deal with, treat, or think about death and grief, I did not know how I 'should' have acted or behaved while grieving the losses of Rabu and my grandmother. Should I be sad and cry? Should I smile? Do people expect me to say something? Do people expect me to reach out for help or talk to them about my feelings? Should I seek help or counselling? In Canadian culture, I was encouraged to express my emotions and talk about my feelings, including my experience. On the other hand, I felt the need to withhold my emotions and restrain from sharing my journey while visiting Japan; I found myself being in the conflict between where I came from and where I was. Bonanno (2009) mentions about the contrast of Western culture and non-Western cultures regarding a grief experience of individuals. While individuals and their feelings and emotions of grief are paid attention to in Western

culture, in non-Western cultures, the focus is on how grieving individuals relate to one another and "what people do" (Bonanno, 2009, p. 48).

Not only I was unfamiliar with the cultural and social contexts of death and grief but I also did not know what 'socially acceptable' grief looks like. Grieving in Japan would have given me familiarity even if I had lived away from the society and culture for a decade. Nevertheless, I was not only here alone physically; I also did not have a psychological familiarity with grief within the Canadian culture and society. Many people within same cultures often grieve with people whom they lost in common, such as a family member. For example, they get together around the table and share meals for a certain period of time after the death. Though they might or might not talk about the deceased, the idea of going through the difficult time together may provide them togetherness and support. Even if family member do not share their experiences or feelings verbally, being with them during such difficult times could give grieving individuals some emotional and psychological comfort and familiarity. Each individual goes through grieving in a unique way; nonetheless, being with someone who has shared the event can provide similar effects to those of a support group or peer support. Supiano (2012) suggests that a support group for grieving people is not only to provide a therapeutic environment but also to give participants support for one another through sharing their experiences and feelings. While a family gathering could play a role of a support group, group participants can also sign up to attend such a group through community outreach. Moreover, people in the same culture and society have some understandings of what they 'should' and 'should not' do towards grieving individuals. Going through grief is not an easy thing for anyone, but if there is some unspoken understanding, then grieving individuals might have an easier time getting through their grief. The society and culture one identifies with would likely provide this understanding and

familiarity. Even though I have lived in Canada for a decade, I do not completely and totally identify myself with what-seems-like-a-visible 'Canadian culture and its society'; and I have found and felt myself being alone. Fortunately, I have internal and external supports if I needed them. Internal supports could be something that I have in my self-care toolbox – or my strengths – whereas external supports would be counselling or talking to a friend, for example. But at the end of the day, I was alone, and I did not – or could not – participate in some of the death rituals while I was processing two losses simultaneously.

The most significant cultural and social difference I experienced was around the New Year. Within Japanese cultural and social contexts, people are discouraged from wishing a happy new year to someone who has lost a loved one within the passing year. Grieving individuals or family send out a letter notifying its recipients that they will be abstaining from celebrating New Year's this coming year due to death in a family; there is a period of mourning in which the family of the deceased is encouraged to withhold from any celebratory events for a year. This period of mourning might perhaps be cultural and societal act of kindness to give mourners a space to grieve, and having some religious components to it. Northcott and Wilson (2008) describe mourning as public expression of grief; yet an individual can also mourn privately, silently, quietly, or even secretly. In Canadian culture and society, on the other hand, many people celebrate Christmas and New Year regardless of the death in the family even after a few months. "When in Rome do as the Romans do"; I understand the benefits of assimilation, yet I found myself struggling to express New Year's wishes; the customary ritual took a strong hold on me. Where I came from allows me to practice the period of mourning; but there seems no such thing in the place which I am now (Canadian culture and society). I have found myself struggling with the different cultural and social traditions and rituals about grief between where I came from and where I live now.

There are also commonalities in these two while there are differences. I tried to be as functional as I could under the circumstances since I felt that school was my priority; I did not really have 'time' to feel things or be with my grief. Or maybe I was avoiding feeling the sadness altogether, because it is easier not to feel and be sad. But the fact was: I have relied on schoolwork to move along my days. I had the sense that I was grieving the loss of my dog, but I was not really with my grief. Even after the death of my grandmother, I felt as though I had to stay put and keep myself sharp so that I could go through another term. Like my coping strategy immediately after Rabu died, through looking back, I buried myself into assignments and school to cope with my grief – I did not intend to do so though; but retrospectively as it became very clear to me that I really struggled throughout writing this thesis – many buried feelings and emotions revisited me again – , I chose to bury myself with schoolwork, not to feel or be with my grief.

Throughout my experience, I came to a conviction as the result of research and conversations that many societies seem not to allow bereaving individuals to grieve, nor does it give them enough time to grieve. Within many Westernized societies, grieving individuals are encouraged to 'move on' with their lives, hopefully as soon as they can. For example, in British Columbia, a grieving individual whose immediate family died is allowed to take "up to 3 days of unpaid leave" (BC Government, Ministry of Jobs, Tourism, and Skill Training, n.d.). Similarly, the Canada labour code also establishes the time line of 3-day bereavement leave (Human resources and skills development Canada, 2009). I think that no one can really 'recover' fully, put smiles on their faces, and be productive and functional three days after someone close to

them died. All the same, many people are resilient; many of us are capable and able to find ways to carry on with our lives even when things go wrong (Bonanno, 2009); we are naturally be resilient. What if the funeral is not held within the time frame? A person could potentially take paid leave if necessary, of course. But I wonder if three days is enough time to return to work when someone has only just died. Although I have previously expressed my disagreement of the pathlogization of grief in the DSM-5, I do see a point in which some people who are diagnosed with a bereavement disorder may benefit by accessing the extended care they might need; being diagnosed could help those by possibly applying for a prolonged bereavement work leave without being penalized. I personally think that grief is not something to be penalized for, however. Regardless of the possible benefit of bereavement diagnosis in DSM-5, I wonder why society is somewhat inconsiderate to bereaving individuals. Although death is not a daily life event for many people, loss is an inevitable part of our life and we all go through that at some point in our lives. The degree of emotions may vary between people, but we all grieve in our own ways, especially when someone close dies. Our body, mind, and spirit integrate and intertwine with each other and with others, and we constantly change and move forward, even after someone dies. We try to cope the best way we know how. Many people try their best to go back to having a 'normal' life after a significant loss. But the truth is the grief never ends; it just comes and goes. Strong emotions sometimes have hit me out of the blue; but that is part of grief. I had to try to carry on and go through with my life while meeting the demands of school. Many people who have bereaved seem to understand the nature of grief, but many societies seem not to be empathic and compassionate enough towards grieving individuals; and that appears to be the same case both in Japan and Canada.

39

Importance of death rituals. From comparing those two different experiences, I have come to understand how participating in death rituals could have an impact on one's grief experience and process. I feel somehow wrong to say this, but I miss Rabu more than I miss my grandmother; much, much more. Rabu was in my life much less than my grandmother was, and some might say that she is a dog while grandma was a human being. Prechtel (2015) writes that bereaved individuals who lost their animal companions to death are sometimes "more capable of grieving" (p. 126) their losses, and being able to truly grieve more than they could have ever done with the death of another who are close to them. In hindsight, there were significant differences in how I experienced the two deaths and the accompanying grief: while I was fortunate to participate in the major death ritual – funeral – for my grandmother, I did not for Rabu. I prepared myself well in advance for the day Rabu would die. I knew that I would be here in Vancouver and I would not be able to say the last good by ein person, and I thought I came to terms with the possibility. But I was not fine and I have had a difficult time coming to terms with her death. I do not regret the decisions I have made to pursue my life in Canada, but I did not realize how significant he impact that death rituals could have on my grief journey. People and many traditions have incorporated death rituals into our lives because its rituals have roles to play in grieving individuals, as well as relationships between the deceased and alive (Bonanno, 2009). A few of my relatives have died since I moved to Vancouver, and I visited Japan when my other grandmother died a few years ago. But the death of Rabu was my first time I did not attend or participate in any death rituals for someone significant to me. I felt I was an outsider and an observer seeing my grieving family over Skype. The gestures to pay respect to the dead were happening in front of me, but I was physically and emotionally not there. I was aware that Rabu was dead but the whole thing - even her death - was conveyed via technology. When I

finally visited my family in Japan a few months after she died, there was only her remains to be seen. If I had been involved in any parts of the rituals or its gestures, I might have had an easier time after her death, and perhaps I would have felt like less of an outsider. Comparing my two different encounters with death and grief, I feel that death related rituals have provided me with some degree of comfort by engaging in the cultural traditions surrounding death and grief. Of course death rituals could also have been practiced outside of my cultural familiarity, such as offering an incense; nevertheless, I would have felt more at ease if I had been physically there in the cultural context and practicing the rituals alongside those who were similarly affected.

Rituals also can take the form of continuing bonds with a deceased; rituals can be private and public. Continuing bonds can be explained as a reestablishment and on-going relationship one creates with a deceased by finding ways to stay connected and to keep the memory of the dead (Schultz & Harris, 2011; Worden & Winokuer, 2011). Grieving individuals can practice and engage in having a continuing bond through sharing memories and stories of the deceased with others or personalizing an object which the dead once owned (Lewis & Hoy, 2011; Shear et al., 2011). Perhaps, a Japanese Buddhist custom allows those still living to have continuing bonds with the deceased and our ancestors through our traditions and customs. There is a family reunion holiday called *Obon* in summer. An immediate family and sometimes relatives too get together to honour our ancestors because many Japanese people understand and believe that we would not be here today without our ancestors. There is also a family gathering called *Houji*, which is held for a death anniversary at certain years after the death of a family member. In addition to those customs, some people occasionally visit the grave of the family such as on the anniversary day of their passing. I always visit both of my grandparents' graves at lease to pay my respect and gratitude – and my great-grandmother's and the first dog of my mother's – when

I am in Japan; unlike Canadian custom, there is a family grave in which ashes of a family member is buried in a same spot. In his book, Bonanno (2009) says: "by following accepted ritual routines ordinary citizens participate in the process of cultural unification" (p. 191). These Japanese rituals help me to have continuing bonds with the dead.

Feeling Like a Failure

What a path it has been. It has taken me a whole two years to actually sit down and put my grief journey into this paper. I registered myself into the thesis course in 2015 but I was not able to finish it on-time even though I had written some of the chapters presented in this thesis. After exploring the kind of thesis I wanted to write, I thought I was ready to put myself to the task of writing an autoethnography about my grief journey. But clearly I was not ready at all, and there have been bumps along the way. I have felt pressure to produce something, somehow, by each deadline. I was able to write the drafts for three chapters, but after that, I completely lost the interest and motivation to create anything further. Time went by without any progress, regardless of how much I knew I had to finish what was started, and no matter how hard I told myself to "just sit and write". I have felt growing frustration with myself, thinking, "Why I can't write anything? What is wrong with me? Everyone is done; I am such a failure."

I feel ashamed that I had to re-register in this thesis course in order to complete writing the project I started back in 2015. At the beginning of my thesis journey, I thought I was ready to share my experience and put it down on paper, but I was not. I have debated with myself whether to just write whatever I could before the due dates, or to accept the fact that I need more time. Although I tried to convince myself that I could push through this, a part of me has needed more time, something I have denied for fear of feeling like a loser. I realized that I have also been hard

on myself, comparing myself with others – "I have been in Canada for 10 years and should be able to write a master's level paper easily; why can I not write like the others do?"

Surrendering and Accepting The Process: Going with The Flow

I had been seeing only one side of the coin — writing chapters and completing this thesis. Yet, this thesis is about sharing my story of grief over the death of those who are very important to me. Like any other grief, I have not had any control over how it has affected all the aspects of my being — mentally, emotionally, and physically. Perhaps, because as human beings, we have "the desire to *know* things" (Romanyshyn, 1999, p. 44), I have felt lost as I did not know where the grief was taking me or when the waves would hit me. I can 'control' whether or not to express certain emotion (such as anger or sadness) in certain situations, especially if expressing an emotion might be inappropriate. However, I have not had any control over when the waves of grief hit me, and I was flooded with emotions sporadically. The waves of grief come and go as they please and whenever they want to stir things up.

When Rabu and my grandmother died, I immersed myself in school. There were assignments and presentations to do, and I did not give myself time to feel anything. Looking back, I was something of a robot, doing tasks after tasks. I was going *around* my grief rather than going *through* it and processing it. That seemed to work well for some time. But once I had completed all the required coursework, the floodgates of grief were opened as though it were saying to me, "Hello Yoshiko, you haven't forgotten about me, have you?". Because I had put grief aside and had not processed it as it takes its own course, I was hit by waves of it. The waves were huge and hard in the beginning; I felt like I was lost in them – overwhelming emotions and feelings. I fought against the waves, gasping for air. I fought to come out of the waves because I felt uncomfortable with all the emotions, and I struggled for quite some time. But once I

surrendered to the grief and accepted its flow, things became easier. I allowed myself to ride the waves instead of fighting them. I allowed emotions and thoughts to express themselves – whether anger, sadness, or simply missing the ones I have lost. I have truly come to accept that grief comes and goes, and although I sometimes feel like crying, the feeling will pass; everything is impermanence – annica – so the Buddha says.

There is no "right" or "wrong" way to grieve. Some people may think that the grieving individual should cry and feel sad all the time. In reality though, there are as many unique ways to experience and process grief as there are unique people and minds, along with unique relationships with the deceased. Even within an individual, grieving can happen differently depending on who is being mourned. My experience of grief over Rabu has been different from that over my grandmother in intensity, feelings, and emotions. And I needed to learn to accept these differences. I miss Rabu more than I do my grandmother, but that is fine and nothing wrong with that. Sometimes I feel like crying out all of a sudden because I miss them, but that is the way grief is. Surrendering and going with the flow of grief has not been easy for me, but this experience was possible because I surrendered to where I was with my grief and prolonged my thesis journey, instead of fighting the process. My life has gone on without Rabu and my grandmother, but I carry their presence in my heart and in my memories.

Chapter 5 – Discussion: Riding the Waves

Summary of What I have Written So Far

I have written this thesis with the purpose of sharing my personal experiences of two losses within a specific cross-cultural context. I experienced a human loss and an animal loss within a short time in 2014, and have grieved each in completely different ways. In this chapter, I will draw themes and similarities between my grief experience and the existing researches, including discussion of the limitations of this thesis. In addition, the implications of my findings and suggestions to fellow counsellors are also provided.

Sharing and putting my grief processes into words has been not as easy as I anticipated it might be – I was thrown into the stormy ocean of grief, where the waves were taking me further and further away; to somewhere unfamiliar to me. When my dog Rabu and my grandmother died, I did not allow the waves of grief to wash over me. I missed them, especially Rabu, but I was able to 'manage' and carry out my life at the beginning of my journey. But when I was done with my courses for school and it came time for writing this study, I felt overcome with grief. I struggled to make deadlines, but the waves of grief kept hitting me harder and harder until I lost the energy and motivation to even try. Like waves of the ocean, grief has its own rhythm and speed; we cannot rush through it or fight it off. Rather, I had to learn how to ride the waves. My standing was unstable at the beginning but after accepting the natural course of grief, I am now able to ride those grieving waves, even though sometimes I still lose my balance.

Human – animal bond; beyond words. I had an incredible bond with my dog Rabu, which is not exceptional. Pets offer comfort, connection, and support (Doherty & Feeney, 2004; Sable, 2013; Toray, 2004). Forming a strong emotional bond with animal companions seems natural among pet owners. Pet owners and their companion animals engage in physical contact

and intimacy such as cuddling, body contact, and mutual gazing, which results in emotional bonding (Kurdek, 2008). A recent study conducted by Nagasawa et al. (2015) revealed that mutual gazing between pet owners and their dogs increases the amount of oxytocin present in the urine of the owners. Oxytocin is a hormone that plays an important role in intimacy, and its production is significantly increased during childbirth and breast-feeding, as well as during sex (MacGill, 2014). Nagasawa et al. (2015) also found that when dogs have limited interactions with their owners, the amount of oxytocin content in the dogs' urine decreased. Field, Orsini, Gavish, and Packman (2009) mention that pets induce "similar known patterns of emotion and behavior observed within human attachment relationships" (p. 335), and are known to take on the role of another human being for their owners. Because of the incredible bond a pet owner can have with a pet companion, the interspecies relationship may supplement relationships with other people in difficult times if one is lacking a close relationship with another human being (Field et al., 2009; Kurdek, 2009; Sable, 2013). Sable (2013) further states that the relationship with an animal companion can offer security and comfort, reduce pet owners' stress, and restore emotional balance in their lives. Kurdek (2009) found that out of 975 participants, on average, these participants tended to depend on their dogs more than their family members in times of emotional distress; perhaps because of the non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard pets provide (Field et al., 2009; Kaufman & Kaufman, 2006; Kurdek, 2008; Rujoiu & Rujoiu, 2014). Rujoiu and Rujoiu (2014) additionally mention that pets offer "unconditional acceptance, confidentiality, and absence of judgment and labeling" (p. 478), similar in effect to counselling.

Death of animal companions. Although I had prepared myself for Rabu's death before she died, her actual death hit me really hard. The emotions brought by the death of one's pet are

seemingly similar to the feelings one may experience upon the death of a human being (Field et al., 2009; Plancho, Templer, Stokes, & Keller, 2002; Sable, 2013; Rujoiu & Rujoiu, 2014; Wrobel & Dye, 2003). Although several studies support and validate my experience of grief over Rabu, what seems significant to my particular experience was that there seems to be a lack of social and cultural understanding regarding pet loss.

Importance of death rituals and a continuing bond after death. I was fortunate to be able to participate in the funeral of my grandmother; through this, I have learned how important a death ritual can be in the grieving process. Winokuer and Harris (2012) explain that a ritual "usually involves an action that is initiated on that part of the bereaved individual to grieve a symbolic expression to certain feelings or thought" (p. 175), such as offering an incense or flowers. It may perhaps give grieving individuals some expectation of what is to come next -amemorial service, for example – so that they can go through the initial shock of the death and grief perhaps more smoothly. A death ritual can be described as a ceremony and/or action, which acknowledges the death of the deceased (Reeves, 2011; Winokuer & Harris, 2012). Death rituals such as wakes and funerals have an important part to play in the grieving process; however, Vale-Taylor (as cited in Lewis & Hoy, 2011) suggests that people may want to avoid making generalized assumptions about whether individuals' needs are met with those rituals, because after all, we all grieve and react to death differently. There are culturally-, socially-, and religiously-set rituals, which grieving individuals are expected to practice, yet these may not necessarily meet the needs of all individuals. Some people live in a context in which crosscultural, cross-religious, or cross-societal experience exists, and some of them may live in those contexts fluidly. Those people should not need to choose one or another in a given situation, especially when they are going through grief; the most important thing is to find a source of comfort in difficult times. Therefore, rather than seeking 'one size fits all' kinds of rituals, each grieving individual may want to engage in the cultural, societal, or religious rituals that they may feel fit best for their particular loss experience.

Rituals could develop into forming a continuing bond with the deceased; Carmack and Packman (2011) suggest that memorials represent a continuing bond with the dead. Engaging in rituals could also help maintain a relationship – a continuing bond – with the dead. Winokuer and Harris (2012) describe a continuing bond as a continued relationship between a grieving individual and the dead that is meaningful to the griever. Field and Wogrin (2011) further stated that a continuing bond is about "transforming the inner relationship" (p. 38) with the dead. Bonanno (2009) notes that many non-western cultures have their "community bereavement rituals" (p. 164), including the Hmong people of Laos, Southeast Asian, Hopi Indians, Saramaka of Surinam, the people in Taiwan, and the people in China. Rituals and a continuing bond with the deceased human or animal can take many forms and shapes; sharing memories and keeping them alive, pictures, feeling their presence, and talking to them to name a few. In addition to that, a continuing bond can also have aspects of cultural, societal, or religious contexts. For example, Japanese death rituals are strongly influenced by Buddhism, and family, and relatives gather to commemorate the dead at set intervals after the death: at two, six, 12, 16, 22, 24, 26, 32, 36, 42, 46, 49, and every fifty years after that (nenki, n. d.). These anniversary gatherings allow people to reconnect and talk about the dead among each other. Many people might have learned through media and other sources, that grievers eventually need to 'find a closure' and 'move on' with their lives without the dead – this idea might perhaps be more common in western cultures than Japan and other non Western cultures. Nonetheless, there is no need for grievers to move on; instead, people can create new relationships with the deceased; whatever forms, shapes, and

actions may be involved. There is no need for grieving individuals to fill the part of their heart that was once for the dead; we can always keep that part for someone we have lost.

Limitations of Sharing My Story

This study presents three limitations that should be addressed. The concerns stem from the unique nature of autoethnography as to how its author presents her results and analysis through her own interpretation (Allen-Collinson & Hockey, 2008). Consequently, results of this study might be subjective rather than objective as the narrators (i.e., study participants) report their emotional experience (Allen-Collinson & Hockey, 2008; Ellis et al., 2011). Then there is the issue of reliability. Ellis et al. (2011) refer to reliability as the reliability/credibility of the narrators (study participants); and how true the narrators' accounts are. Ellis and Bochner (2000), along with Adams and Ellis (2011), also state that what truly happened and capturing the exact experience of it cannot be done as the narrative portrays and shares "the meaning [she] attached to the experience" (p. 751). Sharing my grief journey entailed accessing my memories, which at times were jumbled or otherwise inaccessible while writing this study. Additionally, the reliability of this study could be limited as I was 'only' sharing memories and meanings that I have 'attached to my experience'. As Bochner and Ellis (2000) expressed; "memory doesn't work in a linear way, nor does life" (p. 752), while Bonanno (2009) states that "the accuracy of our memories does not determine how we grieve; that is determined by what we do with our memories, how we experience them, and what we take from them during bereavement" (p. 71).

Similar to reliability, the validity of autoethnography is also open to criticism. Validity, within the context of autoethnography, refers to seeking truth (Adams & Ellis, 2011; Ellis et al., 2011; Ellis & Bochner, 2000). Moreover, with validity, readers find the experience described "lifelike, believable, and possible" (Adams & Ellis, 2011, p. 207), and come to believe that what

is presented is true and authentic; what the author describes is something they can relate to in their own lives (Adams & Ellis, 2011; Ellis et al., 2011; Ellis & Bochner, 2000). Ellis (as cited in Adams & Ellis, 2011) further states that autoethnography also "helps readers communicate with others different from themselves or if the text offers a way to improve the lives of participants and readers, and the author's own life" (p. 207). As my grief and my journey have been unique in its own way, some readers may not find within my story anything that moves them. They may not be able to relate or find some correlation between my story to their own lives. Moreover, because this study only focused on one type of grief – grief due to death from aging –, some readers may not find reading this study helpful for their own journey of grief.

A third criticism is generalizability, which questions the study's result being applicable to, and "relevant for readers" (Adams & Ellis, 20011, p. 207), as well as to a lager population (Ellis et al., 2011). Sharing my grief process meant that the subject of this study (myself) is unique; thus, findings of this study (i.e., sharing my personal encounters and experience) involved "a limited number of cultures and institutions" (Ellis & Bochner, 2000, p. 751) – mine were cross-cultural and cross-social experiences between Japan and Canada. There are various types of grief (such as anticipatory, complicated, chronic, or secondary grief) and different ways people die (suicide, homicide, accident, illness, and natural causes, to name a few). Grievers also grieve within various cultural, familial, and social systems. Hence this study and my story are limited and may not be applicable to lives of some readers. Some people may even be sceptical of the reliability, validity, and generalizability of autoethnography as this methodology is not so scientifically oriented. To put it simply, Ellis et al. (2011) express that autoethnographers' views on social science differ from those of their counterparts, such as those who use 'traditional' research methods.

Implication to Counselling

Uniqueness of grief. Through reflecting, analyzing, and summarizing my experience of grief and its process, I have found a few key notes which may be applied to counselling. Since there is no right or wrong ways to grieve – grief is unique to each client –, the most important thing a counsellor can do is to create and provide a safe space for clients to grieve. Counsellors could inform grieving clients about grief; it is a natural part of living, and it may bring strong emotions that may be foreign and unfamiliar to them. Vlasto (2010) states that individual counselling brings the following benefits to clients: 1) safety, 2) development of rapport, 3) expression of intense emotions, and 4) working on blocks to their grieving process and accessing deeper issues. Some grievers may feel confronted with their own mortality when they experience the death of others. Some could be forced to face up to past experiences which caused them grief or face unresolved issues because the recent death has re-ignited feelings they might have suppressed. Many issues could surface due to grief; thus, counsellors may want to be openminded with whatever grieving clients might bring with them regardless of the initial reason why they have sought counselling (i.e., grief).

Pet loss. The grief experience of some pet owners can be as deep as those involving the death of another human being. Due to the lack of understanding of pet loss, the acknowledgement of pet loss and its significance can easily be downplayed and dismissed. Hence increasing awareness of the importance of this type of loss is needed. Counsellors could take helping roles in pet loss through direct involvement or indirect involvement by collaboratively working with animal healthcare workers (i.e., veterinarians and nurses) (Sharkin & Bahrick, 1990; Sharkin & Knox, 2003).

Just as with any other counselling, counsellors can offer an individual therapy to those experiencing pet loss. Here, counsellors might want to be aware of the lack of social understanding concerning pet loss and how that might impact some clients; I am more than certain that I am not the only one who has the feeling and thoughts of ' no one, including a counsellor, would understand my grief because it is a pet loss'. Some authors (i.e., Clements, Benasutti, & Carmone, 2003; Wrobel & Dye, 2003; Rujoiu & Rujoiu, 2014; Sharkin & Bahrick, 1990; Sharkin & Knox, 2003) emphasise that even while the number of people owning pets has increased, people's understanding, support, and acknowledgement regarding pet loss is not as empathetic as it is upon the death of another human being. Some people might even think that expressing emotions after the death of their pets is shameful, and they may feel that they are not understood by others; hence, they may decide to withhold from expressing or sharing their experience with others, including a counsellor. Sharkin and Bahrick (1990) also mention that some people are unaware of their grief after the death of a pet. Therefore, counsellors might encourage clients to explore their feelings and discuss their pet loss in order to help validate the clients' experiences. In fact, Clements et al. (2003) state that validation and normalization of their grief experience from pet loss play an important part in establishing a therapeutic relationship and alliance with clients. Because many people tend to avoid talking about the loss of beloved pets or their grief – death in general – in the social settings, some grievers may feel that their grief experience is 'abnormal' or they might think that there is something wrong with them. To avoid this, counsellors can validate clients' grief experiences and feelings by reframing them as a "natural and necessary" (Sharkin & Bahrick, 1990, p. 307) part of grief (Clements et al., 2003; Sharkin & Bahrick, 1990; Sharkin & Knox, 2003). By giving a client 'permission' to

grieve for their pet through validation, counsellors acknowledge their loss and pain, which might help clients greatly (Clements et al., 2003; Sharkin & Knox, 2003).

Sharkin and Knox (2003) further state that there is a lack of discussion about the role of an animal companion in the lives of clients in counselling. Counsellors often gain information about significant others (such as partners, family, and friends) through an intake session, but Sharkin and Knox (2003) pose a question regarding human-animal relationship: "how often do [counsellors] ask about pet ownership and attachment?" (p. 417). For some, especially those living alone and those who are older, a pet companion may have a significant meaning and role in their lives (Sharkin & Knox, 2003). By counsellors including a question about their relationships with their pet companions, clients may gain enough sense of safety that they can talk about these relationships during sessions, which could further encourage them to talk about their experience of grief after the death of their pets.

Counsellors and veterinarians together with other animal healthcare workers could work collaboratively; this is an example of the indirect involvement of counsellors. Counsellors, as a matter of fact, could work with those professionals in various capacities. First, counsellors can be a source of referral (Sharkin & Bahrick, 1990; Sharkin & Knox, 2003). As many pet owners will inevitably experience pet loss, veterinarians might want to refer their patients/clients to counselling if they think the owners would benefit from it. Veterinarians may also want to refer pet owners who are faced to make a decision to euthanize their beloved pets (Sharkin & Bahrick, 1990; Sharkin & Knox, 2003). Some pet owners are confronted with this decision when they see that their pet is in pain or suffering. Making the decision to 'put a pet down' can be very hard, even excruciating. Animal healthcare providers might not be able to provide the emotional support that these pet owners may need but a counsellor can assist them in "[sorting] through

their feelings while making such a critical decision" (Sharkin & Bahrick, 1990, p. 307); collaborative work between a counsellor and those care providers could allow this to happen smoothly. Through counselling, clients can explore the pros and cons of euthanizing their pet, and express the potential emotional hardship they might be feeling. Sharkin and Bahrick (1990) note that a counsellor could act as a mediator in this decision making process, in addition to being there to provide emotional support after putting the pet down.

At the same time, animal healthcare providers might be reluctant to refer the pet owners to a counsellor because they may be afraid of giving the wrong impression to the grieving pet owners (Sharkin & Knox, 2003) as pet loss and its grief may not be socially understood or acknowledged (Rujoiu & Rujoiu, 2014). As a result, some grieving pet owners may think that grief due to pet loss is not something that can allow themselves to feel. Here, counsellors may demonstrate and educate those care providers about the importance of validation and normalization of grief after the death of a pet. This kind of psychoeducation could increase the degree to which professionals refer pet owners to counselling as "additional support" (p. 419) during their time of difficulty (Sharkin and Knox, 2003).

Counsellors can additionally provide support to animal healthcare providers including veterinary students by, for example, facilitating workshops about pet loss and bereavement (Sharkin & Knox, 2003). They are often times the first responders when animals are sick and/or dying. Providing them with knowledge about pet loss and basic counselling skills (e.g., compassionate listening and empathy) can give those professionals relevant tools for approaching grieving pet owners (Sharkin & Knox, 2003). Moreover, psychoeducation could also focus on the importance of self-care and having coping skills for veterinary students and care providers facing strong (or unexpected, perhaps) emotional reactions after the death of

animals they care for (Sharkin & Knox, 2003). Animal healthcare workers may develop a unique and strong bond to animals under their care even though they are professionals (Sharkin & Knox, 2003); they may too experience grief over the death of those animals. If they are familiar with emotional reactions to pet loss, and with grief in general, they might be better equipped to meet the challenges of an animals' death.

Counsellors can also collaborate with animal healthcare providers through outreach programs. Despite a lack of social support in pet loss (Rujoiu & Rujoiu, 2014), counsellors can promote education on pet loss, the grieving process that accompanies it, and availability of social support (e.g., support groups) (Sharkin & Knox, 2003). Through community outreach programs, counsellors can organize pet loss support groups in collaboration with animal healthcare providers. If these forms of supports are available in a community, counsellors can provide the information to veterinarian hospitals so that the professionals there can refer the information to pet owners dealing with the death of their pets. Sharkin and Knox (2003) mention toll-free pet loss hotlines in the United States: PetFriends, Inc. (1-800-404-PETS) and Iowa State University (1-888-478-7574). Although there are a few counsellors offering services in pet loss within Vancouver, BC, Canada, searching "pet loss grief support group in Vancouver" on the internet generates no results. Therefore, outreach work may have potential for providing psychoeducation to the public about grief after the death of a pet and for providing support to those in need (Sharkin & Knox, 2003).

Grief as on-going process. Some people, including counsellors, may have heard or been told to move on and have closure after the death of someone close to them. However, the truth is, grief is an on-going process and there is no real end to grief. In fact, only some suffer lasting impacts of grief even though most people experience strong emotions throughout their grieving

process (Stroebe, Schut, & Stroebe, 2005). Grieving individuals will eventually feel less intense emotions and feelings, but they can often return, such as on the anniversary of the loved ones' death. In general, counsellors need to provide a safe space for clients to grieve and encourage them to process their grief in whatever manner they wish to. Walker (1996) suggests that counsellors ask clients to talk about their feelings, experiences, and the events surrounding the death, such as the funeral. As a result of talking about their feelings and experiences, clients might be able to increase self-understanding or reflection on their encounters (Walker, 1996). In addition, because accessing support entails clients sharing their experience of loss, they "have to confront their loss in order to talk about it" (Stroebe et al., 2005, p. 399). As much as it may be difficult for clients to share their experience of grief because of the fear of being judged or stirring up emotions, the acknowledgement and acceptance of the death of a loved one could be the first of many towards healing. Clients could seek bereavement counselling at any time – immediately after the death or years after that. Some clients whose loved one died recently might wish to be 'normal' as soon as they can; or some clients who seek counselling years after the death may be hesitant to talk about their grief because they have the imprinted idea of 'they should have moved on by now'. Here, counsellors can ensure clients that whatever they might be feeling is a part of their grief journey and grief is an on-going process.

Rituals and continuing bond in counselling. Nowatzki and Kalischuk (2009) suggest that counsellors may want to be open-minded about those things that cannot be seen or identified easily, such as faith in a higher power, spirituality, or even such thing as 'ghosts'. The authors studied the impact on grief and healing among 23 participants (18 females and five males, aged between 27-78) who experienced post-death encounters, which are auditory, visual, or otherwise vivid sense of the presence of the deceased, as well as vivid dreams experienced after the death

of someone. The study concluded that participants have found healing in such post-death encounters (Nowatzki & Kalischuk, 2009). Therefore, counsellors may want to acknowledge that some grievers may find comfort in experiencing post-death encounters. In other words, counsellors need to create a safe space for clients to talk about such experiences without fear of being pathologized; after all, some symptoms of some mental illness (e.g., Schizophrenia) include auditory or visual hallucination. Counsellors may even want to encourage their clients to share those stories by introducing the idea of making some rituals or developing a continuing bond with the dead, which can be healing to some grievers. Some grievers may not be aware of the concept of a continuing bond; then counsellors could introduce the notion to them with suggestions such as writing letters to the deceased, offering flowers, or visiting their resting place, for example. Counsellors can even hold a space (i.e., dedicating a session) for their clients to talk about the deceased on a day of the anniversary of their loved ones' death. There are so many ways to incorporate rituals and develop a continuing bond with the deceased into counselling sessions if clients choose to do so with their counsellors.

Cultural sensitivities and diversity. We – through our thoughts, beliefs, and values – are strongly shaped by the cultural and social structures in which we have been raised. Although it is true that cultures and societies can be easily identified based on factors such as geographic location, each family and household has its own values that may or may not be similar to the 'mainstream' values of their own culture and society.

Klass and Chow (2011), along with Neimeyer and Harris (2011) express their emphasis on cultural sensitivity and diversity in bereavement counselling. Neimeyer and Harris (2011) point out that the ways people grieve (e.g., expressing emotions) are impacted by different factors (e.g., culture, society, family structure, religious belief, and spirituality). In addition,

Klass and Chow (2011) mention how different cultures deal with death and grief. The word 'grief' does not even exist in some cultures and society (Klass & Chow, 2011). Furthermore, grieving individuals are often being policed with cultural, societal, and religious expectation of how people 'should' grieve (Klass & Chow, 2011; Neimeyer & Harris, 2011); but there is no written 'how to grieve' guidebook. Therefore, Klass and Chow (2011) suggest that counsellors need to be mindful of how each person expresses and places their emphasis on how they grieve and how they choose to grieve. Many counsellors have been taught to be culturally sensitive and diverse in our counselling practice. One might assume that others share similar beliefs and values just because they are from the same racial or ethnic background; but people do not necessarily operate in the same way, especially when it comes to grief. As such, counsellors must provide counselling that is sensitive to the client's individual needs rather than making assumptions based on their membership in a particular group they seem to belong to.

Final Thoughts

This journey has been filled with unexpected things. I have experienced not only how unique and different each grief experience can be, but also how significant, strong, and lasting the impact pet loss can have on a person. Unlike 'the social norm' of moving on, my journey of grief and healing just began not too long ago, and it will continue. Yes it is true that the grief waves have been much calmer in the past while, but I expect days when I would have a difficult time; but that is normal and a part of my process. I cannot fight against that; I just need to ride along.

I do not know how many times I wanted to give up on writing about this topic. I am also not sure how many times tears have streamed down my cheeks (and blowing my nose) while typing out these words. As I get closer to the end of writing about my grieving process, there is a

part of me that feels extreme sadness – does confronting the emotions of loss make Rabu even more distant from me now? Going through this process means that I am closing one chapter of my life and opening a new one. But does this mean that Rabu is in the past? No. I can always return to that chapter and read it over as many times I want. And I really hope that Rabu will be proud of me for sharing my memories of her and the things that her life taught me. She is not here with me today, nor will she be tomorrow – and no new golden retriever will replace her. But I will cherish my memories of her until the day I die. And when I cross that 'rainbow bridge', I will see her wagging her tail like crazy to say, "Yoshiko, what took you so long? I have been waiting for you!"

References

- Adams, T. E., & Ellis, C. (2011). Trekking through autoethnography. In S. D. Lapan, M. T. Quartaroli, & F. J. Riemer (Eds.), *Qualitative research: An introduction to methods and designs* (pp. 189-212). San Francisco: John Wiley & Sons.
- Allen-Collinson, J. & Hockey, J. (2008). Autoethnography as 'valid' methodology? A study of disrupted identity narratives. *The International Journal of Interdisciplinary Social Sciences*, *3*(6), 209-217.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association.
- Anderson, L. (2006). Analytic autoethnography. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, 35(4), 373-395.
- Bastian, J. (2015, March 31). Dog care: Dog years. [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://www.cesarsway.com/dog-care/senior-dog/Dog-Years
- Bhagavad Gita (2012). *Bhagavad Gita 2.20* [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://www.bhagavad-gita.us/bhagavad-gita-2-20/
- Bochner, A. P. (2012). On first-person narrative scholarship: Autoethnography as acts of meaning. *Narrative Inquiry*, 22(1), 155-164.
- Bonanno, G. A. (2009). The other side of sadness: What the new science of bereavement tells us about life after loss. New York: Basic Books.
- British Colombia Government, Ministry of Jobs, Tourism, and Skill Training (n.d.).

 Interpretation guidelines manual British Colombia employment standards act and regulations. Retrieved from Government of British Columbia website:

 http://www.labour.gov.bc.ca/esb/igm/esa-part-6/igm-esa-s-53.htm

- Canadian Veterinary Medical Association (2011). Canada's pet wellness report: a snapshot of

 Canada's pet health and wellness from the Canadian veterinary medical association

 (CVMA), in partnership with Hill's Science Diet. Retrieved from

 https://www.canadianveterinarians.net/documents/canada-s-pet-wellness-report2011
- Carmack, B. J., & Packman, W. (2011). Pet loss: The interface of continuing bonds research and practice. In R. A. Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and bereavement in contemporary society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 273-284). New York: Routledge.
- Citizenship and Immigration of Canada (2014). Facts and Figures 2013: Immigration OverviewTemporary Residents. Retrieved from

 http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2013/temporary/1-1.asp
- Clements, P. T., Benasutti, K. M., & Carmone, A. (2003). Support for bereaved owners of pets.

 *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care, 39(2), 49-54.
- Crawley, R. A. (2010). Closure of autobiographical memories: The effects of written recounting from first- or third-person visual perspective. *Memory*, 18(8), 900-917.
- Doherty, N. A., & Feeney, J. A. (2004). The composition of attachment networks throughout the adult years. *Personal Relationships*, 11(4), 469-488.
- Ellis, C., Adams, T. E., & Bochner, A. P. (2011). Autoethnography: An overview. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *12*(1), Art. 10.

 Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1589/3096

- Ellis, C., & Bochner, A. P. (2000). Autoethnography, personal narrative, reflexivity: Research as subject. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (2nd ed.) (pp. 733-768). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publication.
- Field, N. P., Orsini, L., Gavish, R., & Packman, W. (2009). Role of attachment in response to pet loss. *Death Studies*, *33*(4), 334-355.
- Field, N. P., & Wogrin, C. (2011). The changing bond in therapy for unresolved loss: An attachment theory perspective. In R. A. Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and Bereavement in Contemporary Society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 403-418). New York: Routledge.
- Gannon, S. (2010, April). Focus of the month: Lokah samastah sukhino bhavantu. *Jivamukti yoga* [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://jivamuktiyoga.com/teachings/focus-of-the-month/p/lokah-samastah-sukhino-bhavantu
- Hanson, B. (2008). Wither qualitative/quantitative?: Grounds for methodological convergence. *Quality & Quantity*, 42(1), 97-111.
- Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (2009). *Information on labour standards:**Bereavement leave. Retrieved from
 http://www.labour.gc.ca/eng/standards_equity/st/pubs_st/pdf/bereavement.pdf
- Kaufman, K. R., & Kaufman, N. D. (2006). And then the dog died. Death Studies, 30(1), 61-76.
- Klass, D., & Chow, A. Y. M. (2011). Culture and ethnicity in experiencing, policing, and handling grief. In R. A. Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and Bereavement in Contemporary Society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 341-353). New York: Routledge.

- Kurdek, L. A. (2008). Pet dogs as attachment figures. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 25(2), 247-266.
- Kurdek, L. A. (2009). Pet dogs as attachment figures for adult owners. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23(4), 439-446.
- Leibfreed, E. (n.d.). The song of the soul. In *Notable quotes: Death quotes* [Web log post].

 Retrieved from http://www.notable-quotes.com/d/death_quotes.html
- Lewis, L., & Hoy, W. G. (2011). Bereavement rituals and the creation of legacy. In R. A.

 Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and Bereavement in Contemporary Society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 315-323).

 New York: Routledge.
- Life Eternal. (2015). *Alan Watts acceptance of death* [Video file]. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qK1BJkBJdtY
- MacGill, M. (2014, September 26). What is oxytocin? Why is oxytocin called the love hormone? *Medical News Today*. Retrieved from http://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/275795.php
- Mendenhall, T. J., Pratt, K. J., Phelps, K. W., & Baird, M. A. (2012). Advancing medical family therapy through research: A consideration of qualitative, qualitative, and mixed-methods designs. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, *34*(2), 187-203.
- Monaco, J. (2010). Memory work, autoethnography and the construction of a fan-ethnography. participations, 7(1), 102-142. Retrieved from http://www.participations.org/Volume%207/Issue%201/monaco.pdf

- Nagasawa, M., Mitsui, S., En, S., Ohtani, N., Ohta, M., Sakuma, Kikusui, T. (2015). Oxytocingazing positive loop and the coevolution of human-dog bonds. *Science*, *348*(6232), 333-336.
- Neimeyer, R. A., & Harris, D. L. (2011). Building bridges in bereavement research and practice: some concluding reflections. In R. A. Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and Bereavement in Contemporary Society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 403-418). New York: Routledge.
- Nenki. (n. d.). In *Wikipedia*. Retrieved from https://ja.wikipedia.org/wiki/%E5%B9%B4%E5%BF%8C
- Northcott, H. C., & Wilson, D. M. (2008). *Dying and death in Canada* (2nd ed.). Toronto: Broadview Press.
- Nowatzki, N. R., & Kalischuk, R. G. (2009). Post-death encounters: grieving, mourning, and healing. *OMEGA-Journal of Death and Dying*, 59(2), 91-111.
- Park, C. L., & Halifax, R. J. (2011). Religion and spirituality in adjusting to bereavement: Grief as burden, grief as gift. In R. A. Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and Bereavement in Contemporary Society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 355-363). New York: Routledge.
- Petloss.com (n.d.). Rainbow Bridge [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://www.petloss.com/rainbowbridge.htm
- Philaretou, A. G., & Allen, K. R. (2006). Researching sensitive topics through autoethnographic means. *The Journal of Men's Studies*, *14*(1), 65-78.
- Plancho, L. A., Templer, D. I., Stokes, S., & Keller, J. (2002). Death of a companion cat or dog and human bereavement: Psychosocial variables. *Society & Animals*, 10(1), 93-105.

- Prechtel, M. (2015). The smell of rain on dust: Grief and praise. Berkley: North Atlantic Book.
- Reeves, N. C. (2011). Death acceptance through ritual. *Death Studies*, 35(5), 408-419.
- Romanyshyn, R. (1999). *The soul in grief: Love, death, and transformation*. Berkeley: North Atlantic Books.
- Rujoiu, O., & Rujoiu, V. (2014). Pet loss and human emotion: Romanian students' reflections on pet loss. *Journal of loss and Trauma: International Perspectives on Stress & Coping*, 19(5), 474-483.
- Sable, P. (2013). The pet connection: an attachment perspective. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, *41*(1), 93-99.
- Schultz, C. L., & Harris, D. L. (2011). Giving voice to nonfinite loss and grief in bereavement. In
 R. A. Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and Bereavement in Contemporary Society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 235-245).
 New York: Routledge.
- Sharkin, B.S., & Bahrick, A. S. (1990). Pet loss: Implication for counsellors. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 68(4), 306-308.
- Sharkin, B. S., & Knox, D. (2003). Pet loss: Issues and implications for the psychologist.

 Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 34(4), 414-421.
- Shear, M. K., Boelen, P. A., & Neimeyer, R. A. (2011). Treating complicated grief: covering approaches, In R. A. Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and Bereavement in Contemporary Society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 139-162). New York: Routledge.
- Slife, B. D., & Melling, B. S. (2012). Method decisions: Quantitative and qualitative inquiry in the study of religious phenomena. *Pastoral Psychology*, 61(5-6), 721-734.

- Snelgrove, R., & Havitz, M. E. (2010). Looking back in time: The pitfalls and potential of retrospective methods in leisure studies. *Leisure Science*, 32(4), 337-351.
- Statistics Canada (2016). *Immigration and Ethnocultural Diversity in Canada*. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/nhs-enm/2011/as-sa/99-010-x/99-010-x2011001-eng.cfm
- Stroebe, W., Schut, H., & Stroebe, M. S. (2005). Grief work, disclosure and counselling: Do they help the bereaved? *Clinical Psychology Review*, 25(4), 395-414.
- Supiano, K. P. (2012). Sense-making in suicide survivorship: A qualitative study of the effect of grief support group participation. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, *17*(6), 489-507.
- Toray, T. (2004). The human-animal bond and loss: Providing support for grieving clients. *Journal of Mental Health Counselling*, 26(3), 244-259.
- Vlasto, C. (2010). Therapists' views of the relative benefits and pitfalls of group work and one-to-one counselling for bereavement. *Counselling and Psychotherapy research*, 10(1), 60-66.
- Walter, T. (1996). A new model of grief: Bereavement and biography. *Mortality: Promototing*The Interdisciplinary Study of Death and Dying, 1(1), 7-25.
- Winokuer, H. R., & Harris, D. L. (2012). *Principles and Practice of Grief Counselling*. New York: Spring Publishing Company.
- Worden, J. W., & Winokuer, H. R. (2011). A task-based approach for counselling the bereaved.

 In R. A. Neimeyer, D. L. Harris, H. R. Winokuer, & G. F. Thornton (Eds.), *Grief and Bereavement in Contemporary Society: Bridging research and practice* (pp. 57-67). New York: Routledge.
- Wrobel, T. A., & Dye, A. L. (2003). Grieving pet death: Normative, gender, and attachment issues. *OMEGA—Journal of Death and Dying*, 47(4), 385-393.

Appendix

Institutional Review Board Certificate of Approval IRB ID# Nonaka_Cohen042116

Principal Investigator (if faculty research)
Student Researcher: Yoshiko Nonaka
Faculty Advisor: Avraham Cohen

Department: DASC/MC

Title: Experiencing grief and loss due to the death of loved ones as a temporary resident:

autoethnography

Approved on: April 21, 2016 Renewal Date: April 21, 2017

Full Board Meeting
Expedited Review (US)
Delegated Review (Can) X
Exempt

CERTIFICATION

City University of Seattle has reviewed the above-named research project. The proposal was found to be acceptable on ethical grounds. The Faculty Advisor Avraham Cohen and the student researcher Yoshiko Nonaka have the responsibility for any other administrative or regulatory approvals that may pertain to this research project, and for ensuring that the authorized research is carried out according to the conditions outlined in the original Ethics Review Protocol submitted for ethics review. This Certificate of Approval is valid for the above time period provided there is no change in experimental protocol, consent process or documents.

Any significant changes to your proposed method, or your consent and recruitment procedures should be reported to the Chair of the Institutional Review Board's consideration in advance of its implementation.

ONGOING REVIEW REQUIREMENTS

In order to receive annual renewal, a status report must be submitted to the IRB Chair for Board consideration within one month of the current expiry date each year the study remains open, and upon study completion.

Brian Guthrie Ph D, RSW, Member of Clinical Registry

Chair IRB City University of Seattle

"Connect Early and Connect Often"

bguthrie@cityu.edu